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MISSION STATEMENT
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Our mission is to assist the clothing industry to enhance its global competitiveness through
the adoption of an industry-led approach to effectively strengthen our services in:

. Training and developing management and technical professionals;
. Promoting sound commercial and industrial practices;
— . Facilitating the application of innovation and technology.
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Chairman's Foreword

Mr. CHENG Man-tak, Richard

B fEEsE
Chairman

EE3

HRE=TE2019FBEHKEZIGRE (INHKS ) | am honoured to be appointed as Chairman in 2019 and to
TE—B BAFI=EFANE—NEERE -2 share with you the Annual Report of the Authority. Over the
ER BB NAEEREELEMED 25 years, the Authority has been providing quality professional

N N LA A 7t R A 3 s training for the local clothing industry in the pursuit of
BEOEEEY . BRUREREEE B g for M omhing i pursutt
excellence while unleashing the potential of talents. Being

SH - ERRFIEITE  HAEERRES the vanguard of the training institution in the industry, we will
MEREBY  BRRUXBRH#EESIE - endeavour to explore the trends and developments and to
provide the best support to practitioners of the industry.

BlEBE—F BRARNBEREZZITIHE - In the past year, we were dedicated to fortify partnership
EEHEREEERTENELG  BATEAN relation and nurture a pool of professionals for the industry.
BEZ SR IEZEER THEESS &5 Following the established strategic plans, the Authority

. . Ny will continue to focus on developing activities that add
BESHLEERFMHEEENER  SESER )
EREMBRARHIAENIAR - OFESE value to stakeholders. They includes a broad spectrum of

N g
AT EREIIRTRZIE professional training courses, corporate training and various
sorts of support to the industry.

FTT#40, BRERL ALEE KEBERE In the advent of the new era of “Industry 4.0 and the
BRESHNERATEE @ RIS{THMEESEITE popularity of application of artificial intelligence, big data
EYMEERSEERE - BEDHREELES and cloud computing, the clothing supply chains follow the

same upwards trajectory in developing a new portfolio of
the digital and smart mode of operations. In its wake, the
enterprises of the fashion design and manufacturing adopt
the application for the intelligent system, automation as
well as new technology to speed up the transformation of
production mode to boost competitiveness.

R AL L BRE - £330 LB W0 R 25 R 0 BT B 3%
HRMRBREEERRIESHES -
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In the backdrop of digitalisation, apart from upgrading the
existing teaching facilities, the Authority also introduces
new courses from time to time. In September this year, we
welcomed the first group of students of “Higher Diploma in
Digital Fashion Creation”. Other than the Higher Diploma, we
has also provided a new series of part-time courses, seminars
and workshops related to the application of digitalisation.

On top of the training courses provided, the Authority plays
a pivotal role in supporting human resources development
for the industry. Qualification Framework Secretariat re-
appointed the Authority as a professional writer to undertake
the compilation of Specification of Competency Standards
for four functional areas, namely Material development,
Production planning and control, Technical support and
Laundry service. The Authority also missioned to increase
recognition of skills and qualifications of the practitioners in
the industry through the qualification framework platform. In
the meantime, the Authority works closely with the industry
for enhancing training curriculum to help practitioners to
strengthen their technical skills.

To help the industry to boost its competitiveness, the Authority
carries out a series of research and development of applied
technologies with the funding from the Innovation and
Technology Fund alongside the support from the industry.
Among them was Activity-based Carbon Footprint Modelling
(ACFM) which gained wide recognition from the industry.
Altogether over 50 enterprises has been provided with the
training of ACFM, which was put in place in calculating the
resources consumed in the clothing production processes.
The result was significant to formulate carbon reduction
strategy conducive to the development of a low-carbon
production environment.

“Re-industrialisation” is one of the key business promotion
activities of the local government recently to bring local
economic advancement to a new height. In this regard,
the Authority was tasked to compile a special report which
outlined a road map for re-industrialisation for local small-
to-medium textiles and clothing enterprises. We had
conducted an in-depth study of the development of textile
materials, the trend of application of new technology and
the current status of the local textile and clothing industries.
The report recommended a three-pronged strategy for re-
industrialisation, namely Digitalized manufacturing and
business models, Circular economy and resource efficiency,
and High value-added solutions. Rounds of seminars
were organised by the Authority so that the industry better
understood the three-pronged strategy and thus formulated
their plans of re-industrialisation.
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In response to rising concern to the issue of sustainability
in the society, the Authority pays much efforts to implement
environmental-friendly-related projects so that the clothing
industry has a good grasp of this prevalentissue. Forinstance,
the Authority organised an annual event - “Fashion Summit
(Hong Kong)”, which is a major event in the Asia fashion
industry in promoting sustainable concept. The 2-day summit
featured more than 50 speakers from all over the world.
Through 6 keynote speeches and 10 panel discussions, the
speakers exchanged opinions and experiences on the latest
trends, innovative technologies, solutions and opportunities
of sustainable fashion.

| want to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt
thanks to the former Chairman, Mr. Yeung Chun-fan. Mr.
Yeung contributed to render the Authority a well-established
training institute of high reputation on providing professional
and quality training to the youth and practitioners for the
industry. My thanks also go to every current and former
Member of the Authority, all staff members, stakeholders
and working partners particularly on their unfailing support
and commitment to work rendering our mission of nurturing
talents for the industry a great success.

Mr. CHENG Man-tak, Richard
Chairman
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Executive Director’s Review

Prof. Philip K. W. Yeung

15 B 25 2 1%
Executive Director
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In approaching the 45th anniversary of the Authority, we have
witnessed a sustained transformation of our industry from
manufacturing base into a global clothing sourcing hub. In
our recent study of potential re-industrialisation of the local
clothing industry, we have come to the conclusion that three
key strategies would suffice; these include i) digitalised
manufacturing and business models, ii) circular economy and
resource efficiency, and iii) high value-added solutions. The
Authority has therefore focused our work in selected areas
amongst these key strategies.

In terms of digitalised manufacturing, we are keen on
raising professionalism and upholding quality skillsets of
practitioners in the industry. Among others, the application
of 3D technology in the clothing industry has the greatest
potential. Virtual design and sample making are rendered
possible and efficient with the use of 3D technology. As such,
the Authority and the Li Ka Shing School of Professional
and Continuing Education joined hand to offer a new Higher
Diploma in Digital Fashion Creation which admitted its first
round of students in September 2019. This course provides
specialised training for students about the application for the
latest digital technologies in both fashion design and product
development, such as 3D fashion design, digital pattern-
making, virtual fitting and virtual fashion show etc.

S —
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Regarding the strategy of human resources development for
providing a pool of professional practitioners, the success
of the strategy hinges on a pillar of a well-established
standardisation for the desired skillsets. In this regard, the
Authority and stakeholders worked together to formulate a
Specification of Competency Standards (SCS) which detailed
the precise standard requirements for the respective skills
needed for the industry. On top of this, the qualification
framework classified the skills into seven levels which paved
the ladder for career development. Also, the Authority provides
support to the enterprises to implement the qualification
framework for encouraging lifelong education and upgrading
of overall capabilities of the practitioners. Last year, the
Authority had already published the SCS which covered six
functional areas for the clothing industry. To enrich the SCS,
the Authority was re-appointed by Qualification Framework
Secretariat to prepare four other functional areas, including
Material development, Production planning and control,
Technical support and Laundry service.

The Authority has also cooperates with various stakeholders
to carry out different applied research and development
projects in enhancing the strategic change of the local
industry. One such project is Precise Controlling System at
Assembly Winder which detects the yarn count and moisture
content by measuring yarn weight instead of yarn length at
the core winding process. Saving on production time and
cost could be achieved due to the elimination of non-value-
added processes such as rewinding. Through this project,
the Authority provided training and technical support to the
industry to help them realising their innovative ideas into
applicable devices.

The emergence of the concept coined as sustainability
which advocated the incorporation of the environmentally-
friendly idea into business models and operations against the
backdrop of the deteriorating environment is relatively new
to the clothing industry. Notwithstanding this, the Authority
organised various sorts of activities to increase enterprises’
recognition of this concept, and more importantly, to promote
environmental-friendly strategy to the industry. The annual
Fashion Summit (Hong Kong) has now attracted major
attention for the industry, and the event in 2019 has included
two roundtable meetings, a two-day conference and a
Fashion Future Challenge Award.
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The roundtable meetings brought together a wide spectrum
of representatives from the fashion industry in Australia
and Hong Kong to share knowledge about sustainability.
Representatives from Australia shared their experience
in successfully transforming their industry by developing
smart-textiles, high-quality fibre and innovative shell fabrics.
Invaluable experience was shared among industrialists of
Hong Kong and Australia. The theme “Achieving the Goals”
was originated from the 17 goals of a sustainable project
endorsed by the United Nations, known as the 2030 Agenda
for Sustainable Development. The conference brought
together the broadest cross-section of delegates from over
50 countries including the United Nations, NGOs, scholars,
entrepreneurs and practitioners. The conference also brought
together brands and start-ups to share their successful
innovations and ideas. The Fashion Future Challenge Award
was a 6-month long event aimed to arouse the interest of
youths who were interested in sustainable fashion. The
participants were asked to formulate innovative and viable
proposals to cope with the anticipated challenges for the next
51to 10 years.

In the past, the Authority strived for ongoing transformation
to cope with the ever-changing economic and business
environment both locally and globally. We count on the
support from all stakeholders of the supply chain, and
determine to maintain momentum for providing professional
training activities of strategic human resources development
for the industry.

May | express my gratitude to the new Chairman, Members,
management and all colleagues of the Authority for their
unfailing support and dedication to work during a most
challenging period of the industry.

Prof. Philip K. W. Yeung
Executive Director
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Members of the Authority

BELEE (EXF)
Mr. CHENG Man-tak, Richard
(Chairman)

BBHREATEAR
representing The Federation
of Hong Kong Garment
Manufacturers

BREMW S BB ME L BRK L L
Mr. CHAN Tat-pan, Benny Dr. CHAN Yuk-mau, Eddie Mr. CHAN Wing-on, Milton
BEETEREAE BBHERBEAELEAR BEEHLOMEE AR

representing the Federation
of Hong Kong Industries

representing the Hong Kong
Garment Manufacturers
Association Ltd.

ERE XL

NSRS

representing the Hongkong
Knitwear Exporters &
Manufacturers Association Ltd.

vl sRMESE L+ RS Y8 W 2 =

Mr. CHAN Wing-on, Roger Ms. CHEUNG Suen-fei, Anne Ms. Janet CHEUNG Ms. FUNG Yuen-han
FEHOEEAE FEEHNBEREAENER FEHEEEmE AL BIgR=
representing The Hong Kong representing the Hong Kong Lay Member representing Trade Union

Exporters’ Association

Garment Manufacturers
Association Ltd.
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Retired Members

(2019528134 N )
(w.e.f. 13 February 2019)

> | SEHgt
g e Miss NG Wai-min, Sylvia
*iii]i oA i D ITxgsEEERE

representing the Director-General of

=IWIBLE BEEHE MANEE A + Trade and Industry
Mr. HWONG Yau-hung, Benny Prof. KAN Chi-wai Dr. LAM Tai-fai, SBS, BBS, JP
HBZEIRFHNTHRERS B2 B3 R AL 2 BEEFEE MM EERES . (2019F9A5HEM )
nominated by the Executive HlmEEERE = : (w.e.f. 5 September 2019)
Director of the Vocational representing the Fashion and representing the Hong Kong .
Training Council Textile Training Board of the Woollen and Synthetic Knitting = o<

Vocational Training Council Manufacturers’ Association Ltd. ﬂ$ 7K ER % $

Mr. CHAN Wing-sun, Samuel
BERHERBEAELEAE
representing the Hong Kong Garment
Manufacturers Association Ltd.

B2OHRKE

Mr. CHOI Shiu-sum, Philip
BEPERBIHSSHE

representing The Chinese Manufacturers’
Association of Hong Kong

HIEERE
Mr. FUNG Wai-yiu, Willie
BEEBRRBEELSHR

representing the Hong Kong Garment

A

BN R EE Bk E BERLZL « Manufacturers Association Ltd.
Mr. LAU Man-tung, Benjamin Mr. LOK Pak-keung, Robert Ms. SUEN Wing-sze, Susanna .

L N ,  RIEKE L
2R AR B B 3 R A A Al BEEPEREHIEAR TEESEERNE * Dr. NG Ke:g-po Roger
MEEBTARE representing The Chinese representing the Director General ”ﬁ#éﬂlﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁ*#&ﬁﬁ S AEESERE
representing the Fashion and Manufacturers’ Association of of Trade and Industry . LS “‘t' = tﬁ T: 'r-] 8% A QTKYEI\ E‘II' X
Textile Training Board of the Hong Kong + representing the Fashion and Textile Training

. - . Board of the Vocational Training Council
Vocational Training Council

BB+ BikE L RNBAR L

Ms. YANG Ming-yen,Teresa Mr. YEUNG Chun-fan Ms. YU Man-long, Cassia

BERBERE BEHRERABTENEX SIRBEINEEEWER

representing The Hong Kong representing The Federation RE :

General Chamber of Commerce of Hong Kong Garment representing the Permanent :
Manufacturers Secretary for Labour and Welfare

[
©
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Structure of the Authority

BHREINABR1975F98 - BT HEINHKR (H
WRE ) RO - ZEBIFE5IRE]FIIRD Z B

EWF .

1. BEREREIMRE

2. BIBFEERUREFTITENGETD
3. BEIEMAIMREENARE

4. TEREELES -

dEEHEB++EtREEEM - HP R .

BEBRNREBBEMRBNAMSE ;
BBHERBMEAELAEFMREBNAMS ;
BHRIABHBREREIREETMRSR
BWAMmE ;

BEBIXBEMEZNA—F
BEBNEMBHSEMRBNOA—Z;
BEEFE LA BERIEMREBINA—R,;
HEBEHOBEMEZNA—F
BEERBEMREZNA—R
BEEECTHERREEENE T EAEMES
ENA—F
BRIRBATHERARBOA—Z;
HEEEBLOMASERATIMREBNA—Z,;
PHBABME ; &
WHFABAERRA LM EHEBL AHEEEIA
_%e
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The Clothing Industry Training Authority was established by
statute in September 1975 according to the Industrial Training
(Clothing Industry) Ordinance. The functions of the Authority
as defined in Section 5 of the Ordinance are:

1. to provide training courses for the clothing industry;

2. to establish and maintain industrial training centres;

3. toassistin the placement of persons completing training
courses;

4. to make recommendations with respect to the rate of levy.

The Authority shall consist of 177 members of whom:

«  Two shall be persons nominated by The Federation of
Hong Kong Garment Manufacturers;

+ Two shall be persons nominated by the Hong Kong
Garment Manufacturers Association Ltd.;

+ Two shall be persons nominated by the Textile and
Clothing Training Board of the Vocational Training Council;

«  One shall be a person nominated by the Federation of
Hong Kong Industries;

+ One shall be a person nominated by The Chinese
Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong;

«  One shall be a person nominated by the Hong Kong Woollen
and Synthetic Knitting Manufacturers’ Association Ltd.;

«  One shall be a person nominated by The Hong Kong
Exporters’ Association;

«  One shall be a person nominated by The Hong Kong
General Chamber of Commerce;

. One shall be a person who holds office as an official
of a trade union which is registered in Hong Kong and
connected with the clothing industry;

«  One shall be a person nominated by the Executive
Director of the Vocational Training Council;

«  One shall be a person nominated by the Hongkong
Knitwear Exporters & Manufacturers Association Ltd.;

»  Two shall be public officers; and

. One shall be a person, not being a public officer or person
connected with any of the organisations as mentioned
above.
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Committees

To enable the Authority to better discharge its functions and
achieve its objectives, five committees were appointed from
among its 17 members to take responsibilities of specific
functions. Committees were empowered to co-opt any
person whose professional advice is expected.

The Committees oversee specific issues that may affect the
operation of the Authority. The Authority held two meetings to
deliberate its way forward and set forth the related strategies
to cope with future changes.

The Committees will continuously pledge to monitor the
effectiveness of allocation of resources and the efficiency of
the operation of the Authority. Inthe long run, the Committees
aspire the Authority as a major change agent to assist Hong
Kong to become the fashion design, development and trading
hub in the Asia Pacific Region.

Committee on Finance

Mr. CHENG Man-tak, Richard (Chairman)
Mr. CHAN Tat-pan, Benny

Mr. CHAN Wing-on, Roger

Dr. LAM Tai-fai

Mr. LOK Pak-keung, Robert

Mr. YEUNG Chun-fan

Ms. YU Man-long, Cassia

Terms of Reference:

1. To negotiate with the Government on loans for deve-

lopment;

To prepare annual estimates of income and expenditure;

To be responsible for the investment of the Authority’s

funds which are not immediately required; and

4. To advise the Authority on any other financial matters
referred to it by the Authority.

w N

1"
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Committee on Building Development

Mr. LAU Man-tung, Benjamin (Chairman)
Mr. CHAN Tat-pan, Benny

Mr. CHAN Wing-on, Milton

Dr. CHAN Yuk-mau, Eddie

Mr. LOK Pak-keung, Robert

Ms. YU Man-long, Cassia

Terms of Reference:

1. To negotiate with the Government on land grant for
Training Centres;

2. To liaise with the architect responsible for the building of
the Centres; and

3. To be responsible for matters relating to the buildings
after completion.

Committee on Courses and Equipment

Ms. YANG Ming-yen, Teresa (Chairman)
Ms. Janet CHEUNG

Ms. FUNG Yuen-han

Mr. HWONG Yau-hung, Benny

Prof. KAN Chi-wai

Ms. SUEN Wing-sze, Susanna

Terms of Reference:

1. To decide the training courses to be run, necessary
equipment and materials to be purchased, and the
disposal of finished products;

2. Toberesponsible for the efficient operation of the training
courses;

3. To maintain the standard of instruction; and
To advise on and monitor the placement of trainees upon
completion of training courses.
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Committee on Public Relations

Ms. Janet CHEUNG (Chairman)
Ms. CHEUNG Suen-fei, Anne
Ms. FUNG Yuen-han

Prof. KAN Chi-wai

Ms. YANG Ming-yen, Teresa

Terms of Reference:

1. To make recommendations to the Authority on publicity
programme;
To propose an estimate of expenditure for publicity;
On the advice of the Authority’s Chairman, to initiate
additional activities as appropriate; and

4. To undertake such other activities as the Authority may
direct.

Committee on Staff Establishment

Mr. CHAN Wing-on, Roger (Chairman)
Mr. CHAN Wing-on, Milton

Dr. CHAN Yuk-mau, Eddie

Ms. CHEUNG Suen-fei, Anne

Mr. HWONG Yau-hung, Benny

Mr. LAU Man-tung, Benjamin

Terms of Reference:

1. To be responsible for staffing matters including the
recruitment, salary and other conditions of service for
the Authority’s staff;

2. To decide any other personnel matters; and
To negotiate, when necessary, with Government on the
secondment of officers from the civil service.

13
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Staff

FRE IHSZBBEAZR4I2A - BILE At the year-end, there was 42 full-time staff working in the
S @EEE T30 UEBNSHISI Authority. At the same time, the Authority engaged 30
SIEYEE - MPASONASESSERNMEH lecturers to conduct part of the training programmes on a
s - part-time basis. Most of them were well-known experts from
= the industry.
BB N ABERHUIBIKSE  BEFEBMR The Authority are committed to providing staff with
2 EEE . NSNS R EE TR - development opportunities, including academic programmes,
ECEEMEREZTEDHEE - MAEE ML e-learning, internal or external courses and skills workshops.

Staff who pursued academic degrees received partial
sponsorship while those took part in training and professional
events received full sponsorship. During the year, the
Authority supported a total of 16 staff members for their
participation in 16 programmes and activities.

MBEBINE  JEZHER - TR - B162H
S2816IBAREANEIIEREE -

FERNBERRIRRK TR

Staff position at the year-end is set out below:

g BEAH

I T R RS R




Organisational Structure | A # 28 48 -—

EREEE R

Organisational Structure
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WEEE
BERAE

Executive Director

Prof. Philip K. W. YEUNG

EER

Operation Division

T

Administration Division

THEEXED
Industry Support

HBTH

Academic Administration

Hlll 4R 5& ED

Training Activities

g Ef

Accounts

BESBRER

Building Services & Maintenance

ADNERRITH

Human Resources & Administration

ERRKRREE

I.T. Development
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Events in Brief

Eﬁﬁ Tj& REEATHREZN TR - JIHBR2019F4H13
HET/RNE  ERGHEERBUGNS  FBE#E

Open Day B ERHE - SETE BREBANIESS -
On 13 April 2019, the Authority organised an Open Day
to let general public to have a better understanding of
the fashion industry. Visitors could join various activities
including job briefing, guest lecture, expert sharing, sewing
demonstration and workshop.

i T

B
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E2019FEFAMHEEX - IARB
By T EHELLE2019 - DIHEE
BHERMITAXBEHEIEN
Bl - HB8REBEZM 7 UItLE
z .

On the day of Open Day 2019, the
Authority held a Sewing Competition
2019 for promoting sewing techniques
and arousing students’ interest in
sewing. A total of 8 students joined
the competition.

18
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HREEXE
WorldSkills

Competition

HAREAREBEZRBEZRR - BUF - A&
R ZENBEIRSFEZREMAS S HREE
MEERWEZIKED - F45EERTZERER
2019F8H22HZ27HE M ZE #7115 LU BV B IR
RERLET - EHEEHRSI TKE63E
R ERN1,300Z B2 FEIEEANLTZN 56
IERRERRE -

WorldSkills is the global hub for skills excellence
and development through international cooperation
and development among industry, government,
organisations, and institutions. The 45" WorldSkills
Competition was held at the Kazen Expo International
Exhibition Centre in Kazan, Russia from 22 - 27
August 2019. The event attracted over 1,300 young

professionals from 63 countries and regions to
participate in 56 skill competitions.

!lllai\!w 1||

2019 I R EREFE BN RERIERBNR2019F7A1THET - IlAEABFSHEHEAR
BEHEEDN  DUIXFHEZEEFEER -

Flag Presentation Ceremony for Hong Kong Delegation to WorlsSkills Kazan 2019 was held on 17 July 2019.
Executive Director of the Authority Prof. Philip Yeung attended the ceremony to support the Hong Kong team.

‘_ﬁ Flag Presentation Ceremany for Hong Kong Delegation to
L : WaorldSkills Kazan 2018
wiorkdskills
azan 2014

K 9MUEREELERRAANNNE
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FIlRBEST Y —ENBEEINIE - ZME/)E
WEBAREBTESNMERREARBENBEMIKRT
ELEE -

After a year of intensive training at the Authority, Miss
NG Pui-yu was selected to represent Hong Kong in the
Fashion Technology trade of WorldSkills Competition.

ERH=KWILEEP  ZMEKRFTLEET —
HREFE920MKIE -

Over the three days of competition, Miss Ng designed
and created a jacket which scored 692 marks.

21
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Asia’s largest  sustainable
fashion event - Fashion Summit (Hong Kong) 2019 (Fashion Summit) was held on 5
and 6 September 2019 at the Hong Kong Convention and Exhibition Centre. Under
the theme of "Achieving the Goals", the Summit brought together over 50 speakers
from all over the world to share their insights at 6 keynote speeches and 10 panel

discussions on the latest sustainable fashion trends, technology, best practices as well
as opportunities.

HEESEBEREEZESETREAEZEREUR  THEBFAEERXR
BERBEERRFRER  BRE EHNFSE -

The event was officiated by Hon. Felix CHUNG Kwok-pan, Chairman of the Fashion
Summit Steering Committee via his welcome speech and then Mr. Edward YAU Tang-
wah, Secretary for Commerce and Economic Development made his opening speech.

ERESEL  \XEEEEE  COEEHKX (BE) BRASE -5
EEEEHKRBERAT - EELEBRAS - EBHETEERAT -
2 (&8 ) BRRAS ~ FIZEMIKEE - Pinneco Research Limited & i
(XENRBERLIEEH B (REKEXRETHEE) - ZHEER
EMERERETtEXREET  AEESREBELEFEEEN  —EBTZ=E2IK
PFacE M@ alFE M -

At the Fashion Summit, eight Hong Kong manufacturers, which included American
& Efird (HK) Limited, Clover Group International Limited, Hanbo Enterprises Limited,
Hong Kong Non-Woven Fabric Industrial Company Limited, Hop Lun (Hong Kong)
Limited, Lever Style Inc., Pinneco Research Limited and TAL Apparel Limited, pledged
their signature to the United Nations’ Fashion Industry Charter for Climate Action. The
signing symbolised the commitment of Hong Kong manufacturers to collaborate with
global fashion companies for tackling climate change and fostering the sustainability
in global fashion supply chains.

o)

RESERNED  LZZEBERZENSE  FEHE KRR
B0~ Redress " REGERFBERREMBLEHFTERESEFTENES
. LESREEEBE -

Fashion Summit was organised by the Authority, the Office of Hon. Felix CHUNG
Kwok-pan (Member of Legislative Council), The Hong Kong Research Institute of
Textiles and Apparel, Redress, Sustainable Fashion Business Consortium and WWF-
Hong Kong, and funded by CreateHK.

2 v
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Fashion Future Challenge Award

el S B 220 IR 5] ROR PR B KR
Pl - TBBAERRNBEMARKRE
TEARKRNTEH O FESERK
haito B IR HBIFTERE - IWRIBEESIRF
r BRERKRFTNRAZBEFEM
- BOITUIBEMEE -

ha %

Fashion Summit organised the Fashion
* Future Challenge Award and invited
students from tertiary institutions to
present innovative proposals on how
the fashion industry could deal with
sustainability challenges in the next
five to ten years. The award aimed
to inspire the next generation to give
more attention to sustainability issues
in the process of fashion design and
development.
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The five finalists came from three
institutions: the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University (three teams), the Savannah
College of Art and Design (SCAD), and the
Hong Kong Design Institute. The teams
presented their proposal at the award
ceremony, which was held on 26 March
2019 at The Mills Fabrica. The team from
SCAD won the award with a proposal on
the use of visual blockchain on helping the
consumers to understand every production
stages of the garments to facilitate the
promotion of sustainable fashion.

BHBhEnEEEERE U RAEEFHENNREREE
15,0007T °

The prizes for the winning team included an internship along with a HK$15,000

cash prize sponsored by The Mills Fabrica.
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In 2019, the Authority offered a series of training programmes
including higher diploma, diploma, certificate and short
courses to suit different needs of individuals.

R2019%F - AABRYP —ZINBHER - R
RERBHRRE WIS ARAERZAL -

iEe

KEE  JHSHITZINT4,04588E  DTES This year, a total of 4,045 trainees completed the
ESSENPNEaX i programmes at the Authority. The number of trainees of
each programme type is summarised as follows:

Bl #RER 12

Training Programmes

=N
21 0 Corporate?l'raining

BRESE / TIEYS
\___Seminars / Workshops

%E
nme|a

Total

4,045

N\
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Training Programme | 3

In 2019, the Authority offered full-time higher diploma programmes
and a series of part-time programmes range from certificate level
to diploma level. All these programmes are designed for the
practitioners in relevant industries as well as interested students
to update and upgrade their knowledge and skills so as to
enhance their performance and competitiveness in the market.

Higher Diploma in Digital Fashion
Creation

This programme was jointly offered by the Authority and Li
Ka Shing School of Professional and Continuing Education of
the Open University of Hong Kong. It aims to foster a creative
mindset and equipped students with technical competencies
for the creation of fashion-related products. Through the digital
approach of fashion design and creation, students would be able
to learn and practice skills in digital pattern making for fashion,
digital pattern cutting for fashion and virtual fashion show.

Diploma in Fashion Creation Technology

Diploma in Fashion Product Development
These two QF level 3 diploma programmes were re- accredlted
in 2019 and had been included in the reimbursable list of the
Continuing Education Fund. Students of these programmes are
equipped with professional knowledge and practical skills of
fashion industry. For each programme, students has to complete
12 modules in 18 months. Graduates would be eligible to
articulate to relevant higher diploma programmes.

Diploma Scheme in Fashion and
Textile Studies

This programme is comprised of two levels, Certificate and
Diploma. The target students of this programme are mainly
practitioners in clothing and related industries. Students of this
programme are equipped with necessary knowledge and skills in
relevant areas. This programme is designed to provide flexibility
for the students to choose modules from different concentrations.
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One Year Diploma in 3D Apparel
Design and Pattern Making

This programme is a reimbursable course under the Continuing
Education Fund. Students were mainly sample makers, pattern
makers, merchandisers, fashion designers and practitioners of
relevant industries. Students learn computer aided fashion design,
commercial fashion design, 3D pattern design technologies as
well as 3D garments and making.

Certificate in Footwear

This certificate programme is comprised of two modules, Practical
Shoemaking and Footwear Leather. The target students are
secondary graduates or equivalent. Students are equipped with
knowledge and skill in the making of shoes with leather, leather
application and overview of the leather and footwear industries.

Certificate in Men’s Suit Tailoring

This certificate programme is comprised of two modules,
Fundamental Men’s Suit Drafting and Fundamental Men’s Suit
Making. It is designed to equip students with skills in body
measurement, pattern making and men’s tailored suit making. After
completing this programme. graduates could study Certificate in
Enhanced Men’s Suit Tailoring in order to upgrade their knowledge
and _skills.

Besides existing courses, the Authority launched several new
award-bearing and non-award-bearing courses in 2019. Following
are the highlights of those new courses:

Retraining Course

Certificate in Tailor-made Men’s Suit Sewing Skills (Part time) is a
part-time skills upgrading course developed by the Authority. The
targets are the unemployed and in-service workers. Students of this
course are equipped with knowledge in tailor-made men’s suit and
fitting process, and skills such as using tools and hand stitches,
finishing and ironing in order to produce a men’s suit jacket.

Computer and Digital Technology

CLO | 3D Fashion Software course is a registered public training
course under the Reindustrialisation and Technology Training
Programme (RTTP). It aims to equip students with the basic skills
of applying the 3D software system “CLO” in the development
process of fashion garments. The participants are provided with
facilities and professional support so that they are able to practice
and apply 3D technology on their own.
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Training Programme | #

Learn to Sew in 3 Days (Lined Jacket) is designed for students
with basic sewing skills. It aims to equip students with higher
sewing techniques through sewing up different parts of jacket

Dressmakmg

Seamstress: Realising Fashion Design course brings students
through the design realisation process which covers design
interpretation, body measurement, specifications, pattern drafting
(draping), fabric cutting, sewing, finishing and fitting and students
work like a seamstress on a small project and make their own
fashion garments based on given designs.

©000000000000000

00000 ccc000c0e0c000000000000 00000
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The Authority organised a series of seminars and workshops,
which were open to the practitioners of the industries and the
public. The participants could gain latest knowledge in specific

areas and share ideas and experiences among the speakers. The
following seminars and workshops were organised in 2019:

Colour Management of Textiles
CottonandApparelMarketUpdates «
Sustainable Fashion

Functional Knitwear Design & Production Training

Garment Draping Workshop

Garment Fit Workshop

Introduction to 3D CAD

Re-industrialisation to Achieve Cleaner Production

Realising Fashion Design

Realising Fashion Idea Workshop

Sustainable Fashion Skill: Style Alteration

Your Fashion Re-industrialisation Partners: Artificial Intelligence
& 3D Technology

Survey Results on
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Various tailor-made corporate trainings were organised
for the fashion and related industries. The training
covered design, management, clothing production,
maintenance and repairing. Following is a list of the
corporate training organised in 2019:

3D Virtual Fashion Design

Fundamental Sewing Technique
Maintenance and Repair of Sewing Machines
Workshop for Young Entrepreneurs
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The Authority offers industry support services to assist the
industry to sustain its competitive edge in the global market.
Utilising our in-depth industry knowledge and technical expertise,
the Authority designs and executes solutions via training that are
uniquely suited to the needs of each organisation.

Development of Specification of Competency
Standards for Fashion Industry (Phase Il)

In the first phase, the Authority had prepared the Specification of
Competency Standards (SCS) for six key functional areas of the
fashion industry. The SCS had already been published in October
2018.

Qualifications Framework Secretariat has appointed the Authority
again as the professional writer for the preparation of SCS
for another four key functional areas: Material development,
Production planning and control, Technical support and Laundry
service. This new set of SCS is expected to be published in early
2021 upon industry-wide consultation.
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Establishing a Sample Development Centre for
Hong Kong Fashion Designers

This project aims to establish a Sample Development Centre
which provides sample making service for fashion designers
to realise their designs into prototype. In addition, the centre
provides series of workshops on pattern and sewing techniques.

Fashion Summit (HK) 2019

This project involves the organisation of a series of activities
which include international conference, overseas study
mission, exhibition and high-level roundtable meeting for
promoting Hong Kong as a creative fashion hub. Fashion
Summit aims to provide a platform for encouraging fashion
designers and industry players integrating their creative and
innovative practices by avoiding pollutions and reducing waste.

Apart from the activities above, the project also organises a
Fashion Future Challenging Award, which serves as a platform
for local university students to address the sustainability
challenges currently facing by the fashion industry and propose
solutions to tackle those challenges.

Project Funded by the Innovation and
Technology Fund

Precise Controlling System at Assembly Winder

This project aims to develop a precise weight measurement
and control system for yarn winding machine. The system is
able to detect yarn count and moisture content so as to control
yarn winding process by weight instead of length as the current
system.
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To the members of Clothing
Industry Training Authority

(Established in Hong Kong under the Industrial Training
(Clothing Industry) Ordinance)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Clothing Industry
Training Authority (the “Authority”) set out on pages 35 to 68,
which comprise the statement of financial position as at
31 December 2019, and the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and
the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Authority as at 31 December 2019,
and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirement of the
Industrial Training (Clothing Industry) Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Audiitor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial stafements
section of our report. We are independent of the Authority in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Responsibilities of the Authority for the
financial statements

The Industrial Training (Clothing Industry) Ordinance requires the
Authority to maintain proper accounts and records of all income
and expenditure and to prepare financial statements comprising
income and expenditure and assets and liabilities of the Authority
that give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the
Authority determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the members are responsible
for assessing the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the members
either intend to liquidate the Authority or to cease operations or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

* |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
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*  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal
control.

*  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Authority.

*  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Authority’s use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Authority to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with the Authority regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

ERNST & YOUNG
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 April 2020
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BaRkkHEMEEWER

Year ended 31 December 2019 #ZE 2019 F£ 12 H 31 HILFE

(F=: 2019 2018
Notes BT BT
HK$ HK$
WA INCOME
A BT 4R UL ER Gross training levy 86,040 99,551
B BEBRARINER Less: Collection fee charged by Customs
and Excise Department (55,161) (53,343)
30,879 46,208
RITFEBWA Bank interest income 422 77
EAlRE W E Receipts from training courses 10,563,138 10,635,955
TEEHWA Industrial project income 13,237,252 9,265,414
R EUWA Dividend income 6 5,484,058 7,231,491
HIEUW A Sundry income 198,604 128,385
29,514,353 27,307,530
] EXPENDITURE
EZE Audit fee 145,000 145,000
e Depreciation 5 959,763 1,182,347
EEEH Expenses on publicity 52,605 58,774
—RITEAX General administrative expenses 3,713,412 3,931,119
REHBER Building maintenance expenses 367,606 6,897,518
THBEERX Industrial project expenses 10,101,214 6,719,060
A RIZENE Lecture fee on training courses 920,329 982,186
BTITHA Staff costs 11,432,732 12,384,473
e [f547:N Training costs 184,429 507,366
Hith & F Other expenses 6,821 -
AR Finance cost 3,360 -
27,887,271 32,807,843
AFEERE/ (BE SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR 1,627,082 (5,500,313)
HihZHEE OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
EREEBE  AgEH Other comprehensive loss that will not be
NEEBRZEME reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
HUW =SS - periods:
RAFEFEBRHE Changes in fair value of equity investments
Z2EHIAHMEE at fair value through other comprehensive
W= IR E income (5,287,700) (16,901,700)
FREMEEEIE (R OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
&) FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (5,287,700) (16,901,700)
AEERTHIEE TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE YEAR (3,660,618) (22,402,013)
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B2 35 ik R

As at 31 December 2019 /2019 & 12 B 31 H

Fft 7 2019 2018
Notes BT BT
HK$ HK$
EREBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
M- BMERRE Property, plant and equipment 5 1,773,838 2,328,135
FREEE Right-of-use assets 5 194,471 -
BRAFEIAEMEE Equity investments at fair value through
W EHWRERE other comprehensive income 6 103,164,200 108,451,900
BRI Prepayments 8 768 106,115
EREEELT Total non-current assets 105,133,277 110,886,150
MENEE CURRENT ASSETS
JF& U IR X Accounts receivable 7 332,937 570,023
FENATIE - e EEM Prepayments, deposits and other
& U R R receivables 8 1,084,196 441,329
RE RIRITEEER Cash and bank balances 9 15,728,745 9,672,622
TRENE EARRE Total current assets 17,145,878 10,683,974
mENaE CURRENT LIABILITIES
& 1~ 1R X Accounts payable 10 204,041 349,186
HitEMIERRESTER Other payables and accruals 1 9,169,197 4,851,488
HEEE Lease liabilities 5 50,117 -
BB EMRER Total current liabilities 9,423,355 5,200,674
MEEEFLE NET CURRENT ASSETS 7,722,523 5,483,300
REERABERE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 112,855,800 116,369,450
EREBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
HESE Lease liabilities 5 146,968 -
BEESRSH NET ASSETS 112,708,832 116,369,450
&% 1 RESERVES
LR General reserve 12 34,329,888 32,702,806
NEERE Fair value reserve 78,378,944 83,666,644
ER RG] TOTAL RESERVES 112,708,832 116,369,450

— 7.7

CHENG Man-tak, Richard
B 1E
Chairman
FE
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BT ES

Year ended 31 December 2019 # %

2019 F12 H 31 HILFE

o EERA
KRESMHRERB
Available-for-sale
investment NEERE
revaluation Fair value EREE BatEE
reserve reserve General reserve Total reserves
BT BT BT BT
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
2018 181H At 1 January 2018
(RIRFEFZ3]) (as originally presented) 100,568,344 - 38,203,119 138,771,463
KA é}ﬁﬂﬁ“iﬁi Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9
BRI EE (100,568,344) 100,568,344 - -
R2018FE181H At 1 January 2018 (as
(Eu) restated) - 100,568,344 38,203,119 138,771,463
FREIE Deficit for the year - - (5,500,313) (5,500,313)
FERNEMEEUZ :  Other comprehensive income
for the year:
BAFEFEBH Changes in fair value
SBEFIAEMEE of equity investments at
WHH IR E fair value through other
comprehensive income,
(BR##E ) net ;tax - (16,901,700) - (16,901,700)
FRBETHEEE Total comprehensive loss for
the year - (16,901,700) (5,500,313) (22,402,013)
52018%F12831H At 31 December 2018 - 83,666,644 32,702,806 116,369,450
R2019FE181H At 1 January 2019 - 83,666,644 32,702,806 116,369,450
FAREER Surplus for the year - = 1,627,082 1,627,082
FAREMEEUZ :  Other comprehensive income
for the year:
BAFEFTEHE Changes in fair value of equity
& §}J SIAEMEE investments at fair value
WEmWEERE through other comprehensive
(BRfHE) income, net of tax - (5,287,700) - (5,287,700)
FRBETEWE / Total comprehensive income/
(E18) (loss) for the year - (5,287,700) 1,627,082 (3,660,618)
R2019%F12831H At 31 December 2019 - 78,378,944 34,329,888 112,708,832

feie TERANR (RXE) KO-

MEERE (I

(2) 1BE=BRES -
ERBUENERERME ; (i
C BB B
B, (i) HEXTHIABHEBEARIRSH
BENEUHERBSNEEMMIE ; & (iv
AR E

=+ progS
;- EX

HEMME

) BRIEANG (RIRE) RHFE27
FEERTHERRF BHEA

AEBNEE K

Under the Industrial Training (Clothing Industry) Ordinance, the funds
and property of the Authority shall consist of (i) subject to section 27(2)
of the Industrial Training (Clothing Industry) Ordinance, all amounts

of levy and surcharge collected by the Commissioner of Customs

i) AlsmBEEBH
A A 2T EI AR

) AR5
WEMARIBERME -

the Authority for its purposes.

and Excise Department of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region; (ii) any moneys received by the Authority by
way of grants, loans, donations, fees, rent or interest; (iii) all moneys
derived from the sales of any property held by or on behalf of the
Authority; and (iv) all other moneys and property lawfully received by
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
~
REMER
Year ended 31 December 2019 #Z 2019 £ 12 B 31 HIEFE
B &E 2019 2018
Notes BT BT
HK$ HK$
RExEMGRER CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
KEERER/ (B1E) Surplus/(deficit) for the year 1,627,082 (5,500,313)
AR Adjustments for:
RN Finance cost 5 3,360 -
RITAMRUA Bank interest income (422) (77)
BEAFEIAEME Dividend income from equity investments at
HRZWERERE / fair value through other comprehensive
IHHEERARE Y income/available-for-sale investments
2PN (5,484,058) (7,231,491)
HEME BEER Loss on disposal of items of property, plant
BZEE and equipment 6,822 -
e Depreciation 5 959,763 1,182,347
(2,887,453) (11,549,534)
JF& U R FRL /D Decrease in accounts receivable 237,086 111,781
BEMNRIE - e REAM Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits
FE U BR FOmR > /(1 and other receivables
) (537,520) 750,039
FERTIRFRIGIN / (R ) Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable (145,145) 121,491
HihEI IR REEE  Increasel/(decrease) in other payables and
BEm/ CGab) accruals 4,317,709 (1,173,058)
mEEIES / (Ff Cash generated from/(used) in operations
B)RE 984,677 (11,739,281)
HEFEZFNE Interest element on lease rental payments 14(b) (3,360) -
REEBFRB/ (FF Net cash flows from/(used) in operating activities
A)RIBREREFHE 981,317 (11,739,281)
BREXFFESBHREASE CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
BAMZE - MEKREIER Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment 5 (381,250) (576,636)
SRR Interest received 422 77
BEAFEIIAHMEZER Dividends received from equity investments
WEREREMRR at fair value through other comprehensive
MRS income 6 5,484,058 7,231,491
KREEKFFESIEEME  Netcash flows from investing activities
HER 5,103,230 6,654,932
MEXBHEGRERE CASH FLOWS FROM A FINANCING ACTIVITY
TENHEFRERRE Principal portion of lease rental payments and
EWRFAARSR cash flows used in financing activity 14(b) (28,424) -
E&REEFEEHBE NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND
m/ gad) B% CASH EQUIVALENTS 6,056,123 (5,084,349)
FYRERREEEEE Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 9,672,622 14,756,971
FREEZREESSEIE CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF
| YEAR 15,728,745 9,672,622
HERREESEEEBR® ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND
R CASH EQUIVALENTS
R & RIRTT 4 ER Cash and bank balances 10 15,728,745 9,672,622
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2.2

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Authority is established in Hong Kong under the Industrial
Training (Clothing Industry) Ordinance. The Authority is a
not-for-profit organization and its principal activities are to
provide training courses for the clothing industry, establish
and maintain industrial training centres, assist in the
placement of persons completing training courses and make
recommendations with respect to the rate of levy.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Industrial Training (Clothing
Industry) Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for equity investments at
fair value through other comprehensive income which have
been measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$").

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES

The Authority has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9
Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation

HKFRS 16
Leases

Amendments to HKAS 19
Flan Amernaiment Curtanment or Selttermerit
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POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 28
Long-term Inferests in Associates and Joint Ventures

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Annual Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11, HKAS 12 and HKAS 23

Other than as explained below regarding the impact of HKFRSs,
the adoption of the above new and revised standards has had
no significant financial effect on these financial statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 supersedes HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases - Incentives and HK(SIC)-
Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving
the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the
principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation
and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to account for
most leases under a single on-balance sheet model. Lessor
accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from
HKAS 17 whereby lessors continue to classify leases as
either operating or finance leases using similar principles as
in HKAS 17. Therefore, HKFRS 16 has not had an impact on
leases where the Authority is the lessor.

For leases previously classified as operating leases applying
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 in which the Authority is the
lessee, the Authority has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively in
accordance with the transitional provisions therein using the
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the
cumulative effect of initially applying HKFRS 16 was recognised
as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits at
1 January 2019 and the comparative information has not been
restated and continued to be reported under HKAS 17. In
addition, lease liabilities were recognised at 1 January 2019 and
measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at that date
and the corresponding right-of-use assets were measured at
the same amount, adjusted by any prepaid or accrued lease
payments recognised immediately before 1 January 2019.
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2.2 CHANGES

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

The Authority has elected to use the transitional practical
expedient allowing the standard to be applied only to
contracts that were previously identified as leases applying
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 at the date of initial application.
The Authority has also elected to use the recognition
exemptions for lease contracts that, at the commencement
date, had a lease term of 12 months or less and did not
contain a purchase option (‘short-term leases’), and lease
contracts for which the underlying asset was of low value
(‘low-value assets’).

The Authority has also elected to apply the following practical
expedients when applying HKFRS 16 retrospectively to
leases previously classified as operating leases applying
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 in which the Authority was
the lessee:

* A single discount rate was applied to a portfolio of
leases with reasonably similar characteristics;

. Initial direct costs were excluded from the measurement
of the right-of-use assets at 1 January 2019; and

. Leases for which the lease term would end within 12
months at the date of initial application were accounted
for in the same way as short-term leases.

For leases previously classified as finance leases applying
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 in which the Authority was
the lessee, the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset
and the lease liability at 1 January 2019 were the carrying
amount of the lease asset and the lease liability immediately
before that date measured applying the previous accounting
standards.

In accordance with the transitional provisions of HKFRS 16,
the Authority was not required to make any adjustments on
transition for leases in which the Authority was the lessor
and has accounted for those leases applying HKFRS 16
from 1 January 2019.

The adoption of HKFRS 16 on 1 January 2019 by the
Authority has given rise to additional lease liabilities of
HK$88,728 at 1 January 2019 with corresponding right-of-
use assets of the same amount recognised. The adoption
has had no impact on the Authority’s equity at 1 January
2019.

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied
to the lease liabilities recognised at 1 January 2019 is 3%.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Authority has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3
Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform '

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011)
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture 3

HKFRS 17
Insurance Contracts ?

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
Definition of Material !

' Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

The Authority is in the process of assessing the impact of the

above new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but
are not yet effective upon adoption.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Fair value measurement

The Authority measures its listed equity investments at
fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement
is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement
is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Authority determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Authority assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.
If such an indication exists, the Authority makes an estimate
of the asset’s recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its
fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pretax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows independently (i.e., a cash-generating unit).

An impairment loss is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable
amount. The impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount. A reversal of the impairment loss is
limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in
prior years. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited
to the statement of profit or loss in the year in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
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BEALT Related parties

ETIERT - BERAALBERENREERE

A party is considered to be related to the Authority if:

(a) BPARBEEBEGZYINRERE B (a) the party is a person or a close member of that
@A+ person’s family and that person
() Esis RSN (i) has control or joint control over the Authority;
(i) THINBBEMEAZES ; (ii) has significant influence over the Authority; or
cooy . s o (iii) is a member of the key management personnel
RAlBRERNES A ATNERET
(i) f L e of the Authority or of a parent of the Authority;
=
EJZ or
(b) BEAALFETINERZ—2ERE (b) the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

() zERERSELE—SBYHE ; (i)  the entity and the Authority are members of the
(i) —HiEpS-—REZBEASNE same group;
BrE (gR-wEIEAT - (i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
[3ﬁ BATHEZ Bﬁl=' AF) other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
(i) ZERENRELBARE=SS subsidiary of the other entity);
> i :A P (iii) the entity and the Authority are joint ventures of
- the same third party;
(v —ERAE=FERIZEEE
= B= HhEkLon= (iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
s — == == Egh
X B HEARB=-LEE and the other entity is an associate of the third
ZHERE entity;
(v) ZBREARIABNEAINES A EH (v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
M2BERAEERANMRIUZRE the benefit of employees of either the Authority
BERBIGERE ; or an entity related to the Authority;
(vi) ZBREA (a) FRAIE 2@ APRiE (vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
E =S HT’E%J . ) person ider.ltified. in (a?; . o
ViR (a) (i) FElZZEAYZ (vii) _a person identified |_n (a).(l) has significant
CEESADERALER (I influence over the entity or is a member of the
- - A key management personnel of the entity (or of
A N\ k=S
_ ;;5'2 Z8RE) HRREEA a parent of the entity); and
t; I & 4 (viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it

(viii) AR RE 2 A B EARE is a part, provides key management personnel

RHEREERY - services to the Authority.
ME BMEARBHITE Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

ME- BEERRBEADEREARERITE
REMRMEBEIR —BYE BEAR
1%E’\JE)ZZIS’TTEH%%F&%\EZIE%?FL%E
BRI REZZERHERUENETERE
BRE -

Iltems of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to net income in the
period in which it is incurred. In situations where the major
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Authority recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Owned assets

Buildings Over 25 years
Leasehold improvements 10%

Plant and machinery 10%

Fixture, fitting and equipment 10% - 20%

Right-of-use assets

Fixture, fitting and equipment Over the lease term
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in net income in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financial
component or for which the Authority has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financial
component are measured at the transaction price determined
under HKFRS 15. All the other financial assets are initially
recognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets, except
in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value through
profit or loss. Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
when the Authority commits to purchase or sell the assets.

(a) Classification and measurement
Debt instruments are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method, subject to impairment if
the assets are held for the collection of contractual cash
flows where those contractual cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest.

Debt instruments are measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income if the assets’ contractual cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest and the
assets are held for collection of contractual cash flows and
for selling the financial assets. Such financial assets are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or losses
from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive
income, except for impairment losses and reversal, foreign
exchange gains and losses and interest calculated using
the effective interest rate method which are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss. The cumulative gains
or losses previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified from other comprehensive income
to the statement of profit or loss when the financial asset is
derecognised.

Debt instruments that do not meet the criteria for amortised
cost or as financial assets at fair value though other
comprehensive income are measured at fair value through
profit or loss. Interest income for these financial assets is
included in finance income.

Equity investments are measured at fair value through
profit or loss unless, on initial recognition, the Authority
has irrevocably elected to designate such investments that
are not held for trading as equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends of such
investments are recognised in the statement of profit or loss
when the Authority’s right to receive payment is established.
Changes in the fair value of such investments are recognised
in other comprehensive income and are never recycled to
the statement of profit or loss even when the assets are sold.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(b)

Impairment

The Authority applies the expected credit loss model on
all the financial assets that are subject to impairment,
financial guarantee contracts, contract assets under
HKFRS 15 and lease receivables under HKFRS 16.
For trade receivables and contract assets without a
significant financial component, the Authority applies
the simplified approach which requires impairment
allowances to be measured at lifetime expected credit
losses.

For other financial assets, impairment allowances are
recognised under the general approach where expected
credit losses are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures where there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Authority is required to provide for credit losses that
result from possible default events within the next 12
months. For those credit exposures where there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure
irrespective of the timing of the default.

The Authority considers a default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the
Authority has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more appropriate default criterion
should be applied.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets have expired; or
where the Authority has transferred its contractual rights
to receive the cash flows of the financial assets and has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership; or where control is not retained.

Financial liabilities

The Authority’s financial liabilities include accounts and other

payables and accruals.

Financial liabilities are recognised

when the Authority becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Financial
liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in
the contract is discharged or cancelled, or expires.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if,
and only if, there is currently enforceable legal right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Authority expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Authority will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than
one year, revenue is measured at the present value of the
amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction between
the Authority and the customer at contract inception. When
the contract contains a financing component which provides
the Authority a significant financial benefit for more than one
year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method. For a contract where the period
between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

Training levy income is recognised based on a fixed
percentage on the F.O.B. value of clothing (including
footwear) items exported from Hong Kong on a monthly basis
advised from the Customs and Excise Department.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Training course income and industrial project income are
recognised on a time proportion basis over the period of the
respective course. The performance obligation is satisfied
over time as services are provided and short-term advances
are normally required before rendering the services.

As a practical expedient, the transaction prices allocated
to the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or
partially unsatisfied) are not disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements because all the remaining performance
obligations in relation to training course are a part of contracts
that have an original expected duration of one year or less. In
addition, in relation to rendering services for industrial project,
the Authority has a right to consideration from its customers
in an amount that corresponds directly with the value to
the customers of the Authority’s performance obligations
completed to date.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right
to receive payment has been established, it is probable
that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will
flow to the Authority and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Authority has received a
consideration (or an amount of consideration that is due) from
the customer. If a customer pays the consideration before
the Authority transfers goods or services to the customer, a
contract liability is recognised when the payment is made or
the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Authority performs
under the contract.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Leases

Lessee (under HKAS 17)

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains,
a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and
requires an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the
arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset and
whether the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.
Finance leases, which transfer to the Authority substantially
all the rewards and risks incidental to ownership of a leased
item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair
value of the leased item, or if lower, at the present value
of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are
apportioned between the finance charges and reduction in
the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are
expensed through the statement of profit or loss. Capitalised
leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets. Operating
lease payments, net of any incentives received from the
lessor, are recognised as an expense in the statement of
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Lessee (under HKFRS 16)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
a right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to obtain substantially
all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset
and the right to direct the use of the identified asset. All leases
with a term of more than 12 months are recognised as assets
representing the right of use of the underlying asset and
liabilities representing the obligation to make lease payments,
unless the underlying asset is of low value. Both the assets
and the liabilities are initially measured on a present value
basis. Right-of-use assets are recognised under property,
plant and equipment and are measured at cost or valuation
less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liabilities.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the useful lives of the assets and the lease
terms. Lease liabilities are initially measured at the present
value of lease payments to be made under the lease terms
and subsequently adjusted by the effect of the interest on and
the settlement of the lease liabilities, and the re-measurement
arising from any reassessment of the lease liabilities or lease
modifications.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits that are readily convertible into known amounts of
cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances.

Employee benefits

Paid leave carried forward

The Authority provides paid annual leave to its employees
under their employment contracts on a calendar year basis.
Under certain circumstances, such leave which remains
untaken as at the end of the reporting period is permitted to
be carried forward and utilised by the respective employees
in the following year. An accrual is made at the end of each
reporting period for the expected future cost of such paid
leave earned during the year by the employees and carried
forward.

Pension scheme contributions

The Authority operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to participate
in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to net income as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Authority in an
independently administered fund. The Authority’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Authority’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of income,
expenditure, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in
the future.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgement

In the process of applying the Authority's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement, apart from
those involving estimations, which has the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Leases — whether a contract contains a lease under HKFRS 16
The Authority has several lease contracts and it applies
judgement in evaluating whether those contracts contain
a lease defined under HKFRS 16. The Authority also
considered the substance of the contracts as to what the
payment or contract faithfully represents for which the
judgement is made, and such assessment is made on an
individual contract basis.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of accounts receivable

The impairment provisions for accounts receivable are based
on assumptions about expected credit losses. The Authority
uses judgements in making these assumptions and selecting
the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the number
of days that an individual receivable is outstanding as well
as the Authority’s historical experience and forward-looking
information at the end of each reporting period. Changes in
these assumptions and estimates could materially affect the
results of the assessment and it may be necessary to make
an additional impairment charge to profit or loss. Further
details of the accounts receivable are given in note 7 to the
financial statements.

. INCOME TAX

The Authority has been exempted under Section 88 of
the Inland Revenue Ordinance from all taxes under the
Ordinance. As a result, no provision for Hong Kong profits tax
or deferred taxation is required in these financial statements.
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5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND LEASE LIABILITIES

BREE
Owned assets

BEEE - BEEE -
HIERE mER HEBRRZE
Fixture, HEEE Hes Fixture,
fitting and 85 BF Leasehold  Plantand fitting and a5t a5t
equipment Total Buildings improvements  machinery  equipment Total Total
BT BT BT BT BT BT EIT BT
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
2019%12831H 31 December 2019
R2019%1 At1January 2019
B1H (#&/& (as originally
SEFRE5) :  presented):
3% Cost - - 19,413,409 8,283,074 273,099 7,779,598 35,749,180 35,749,180
RIFE Accumulated
depreciation - - (19,413/409) (7,667,337)  (236,846) (6,103,453) (33,421,045) (33,421,045)
REFE Net carrying
amount - - - 615,737 36,253 1,676,145 2,328,135 2,328,135
® # & & Effect of adoption
B ¥ 8 &%  of HKFRS 16
2 Al%16 (notea)
A
(Fifzta ) 88,728 88,728 - - - - - 88,728
R201918 At 1 January 2019
18 (&it) (as restated) 88,728 88,728 - 615,737 36,253 1,676,145 2,328,135 2,416,863
201918 At 1 January 2019,
1H - #IBk  netof accumulated
REIE depreciation 88,728 88,728 - 615,737 36,253 1,676,145 2,328,135 2,416,863
wE Additions 136,781 136,781 - - - 381,250 381,250 518,031
& N #7 % # Depreciation provided
% during the year (31,038) (31,038) - (558,058) (11,725)  (358,942)  (928,725)  (959,763)
He Disposals - - - - - (6,822) (6,822) (6,822)
2019412 At31December2019,
B31H - 1  netofaccumulated
BREMITE  depreciation 194,471 194,471 - 57,679 24528 1,691,631 1,773,838 1,968,309
R20198F12 At31December2019:
A318 :
[B%:N Cost 225,509 225,509 19,413,409 8,283,074 273,099 7,937,256 35,906,838 36,132,347
RIEIE Accumulated
depreciation (31,038) (31,038) (19,413,409)  (8,225,395) (248,571)  (6,245,625) (34,133,000) (34,164,038)
IREVFE Net carrying
amount 194,471 194,471 - 57,679 24,528 1,691,631 1,773,838 1,968,309
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DERESEE (8) 5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

BERE -
MER HERZHE
HEEE 2% Fixture, fitting
B3 Leasehold Plant and and =1
Buildings improvements machinery equipment Total
BT BT BT BT BT
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
2018%12H31H 31 December 2018
FR2018%FE181H At 1 January 2018
AR Cost 19,413,409 8,283,074 273,099 7,202,962 35,172,544
EEIE Accumulated depreciation  (19,413,409)  (6,839,030) (221,466) (5,764,793) (32,238,698)
IREDEE Net carrying amount - 1,444,044 51,633 1,438,169 2,933,846
20182181 At1January 2018, net of
H - B EFE accumulated depreciation
e - 1,444,044 51,633 1,438,169 2,933,846
hE Additions - - - 576,636 576,636
FRINERE Depreciation provided
during the year - (828,307) (15,380) (338,660) (1,182,347)
R2018%FE 128  At31 December 2018, net of
318 - IR R accumulated depreciation
fEiTEE - 615,737 36,253 1,676,145 2,328,135
R2018%FE 128  At31 December 2018:
318 :
A Cost 19,413,409 8,283,074 273,099 7,779,598 35,749,180
ZEiEiE Accumulated depreciation  (19,413,409)  (7,667,337) (236,846) (6,103,453) (33,421,045)
REFE Net carrying amount - 615,737 36,253 1,676,145 2,328,135

ZERBTFREREBHINTHREIRFUEZNE
BRNLLE -

The buildings are erected on lands granted at nil consideration

by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative

Region.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

P 5T Notes:
(a) IBMBHAE S AR S EDE AL (a) The Authority leases certain of its office equipment used
NEDE . ELEHEEESNERAE in its operations. Leases for these assets are negotiated
. N = SN for terms ranging from two to four years with no extension
E - EMARE2FEAE - BPRALEH or termination options and all the lease payments are
FRUIENEERMAHERIEZEEN - fixed.
£2019F12A31EHMEESE R B H Maturity profile of lease liabilities as at 31 December 2019
BT
HK$
—ERA Within one year 55,344
—FEZHBEERAFEA  After one year but within five years 154,240
HEEE (XRFIR) Lease liabilities (undiscounted) 209,584
IREE Discount amount (12,499)
HES®E (SR ) Lease liabilities (discounted) 197,085
E Current 50,117
e E Non-current 146,968
R20195F12831HERATEHEA BRI ME The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied
1 BB ESHEREDRDLE3% - EEH to the lease liabilities recognised at 31 December 2019

was 3%. The fair value of the Authority’s non-current

FERBEEEEN LA FEIEZHKS146,968 o . .
lease liabilities with a carrying amount of HK$146,968

(20184 : &%) - BRERIEAHKS154,240 (2018: Nil) was HK$154,240 (2018: Nil). The fair value
(2018% : f&) - AFEEHBHAIARNE was determined by discounting the expected future cash
REMSWIRTAXRITIRAE - flows at prevailing interest rates.
#1E2019F12B31HILEFEHEEEBE 2R Movements of carrying amounts of lease liabilities for
L the year ended 31 December 2019
BT
HK$
R2019%F181H At 1 January 2019 88,728
//J\\% Additions 136,781
ﬁﬁ ZMFE Accretion of interest 3,360
;IR Payments (31,784)
197,085
#H1E2019F12H31HIELFERDINIEZRESEHE Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss for
the year ended 31 December 2019
BT
HK$
FREEENEER  Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 31,038
HEEBNMEXZE Interest expense on lease liabilities 3,360
34,398
2019%F  JIABHNHEARERYE 7% The Authority had total cash outflows for leases of
HK$31,784 - B - SFRSABMNE AR HK$31,784 in 2019. The Authority also had non-cash

additions of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of

EENHEREAHKS136,781
HK$136,781 in 2019.
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HAFEEBIIANEBEMHME=ETHIKEGS 6. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
NIZERE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2019 2018
BT BT
HK$ HK$
THRERE - BAFES:  Listed equity investments, at fair value
EEEZERARAT HSBC Holdings plc 36,510,000 38,880,000
XERHBERAE Swire Pacific Limited 8,688,000 9,924,000
BREEBEEARAST Power Assets Holdings Limited 18,810,000 17,985,000
HEEEFRAT Hysan Development Company Limited 8,859,500 10,802,500
MBEMEZRERRAT Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited 14,196,700 13,280,400
HERTHERAT Hang Seng Bank Limited 16,100,000 17,580,000
103,164,200 108,451,900

ERIAIGERRELREEAREY - £t
REREFATHBEMMAFEHAREMER
Wz

EBHE2019F12R31HLEEER - A&EBW
INREREHEONRESZRABMRAT
HK$2,396,580 ; K& A RASIHK$378,000
 BEEEEXAMATHKS23,664 ; HIEE
EERATHKS416,764 ; MiEEMERRE
BRATIHKS589,050 R EERTAERAT
HK$780,000 -

- & IS IR 3R

& W MR R

AEBEERNRZRRUEERE - FE
H—MB30H  BEEFEESEERE - H
REBEZEFAREERWIIRMN - E5TERE
HMEEERR SREEAESETHERD
s - BN LB - BRIEREEUIR
RESKREABRENEF  MAFEBRD
EPHNEERR - & B8R A EEUIR
RERFATUERARNEMEEER - &
WIRR B AR -

Accounts receivable

The above equity investments were irrevocably designated
at fair value through other comprehensive income as the
Authority considers these investments to be strategic in
nature.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Authority
received dividends in the amounts of HK$2,396,580,
HK$378,000, HK$923,664, HK$416,764, HK$589,050,
HK$780,000 from HSBC Holdings plc, Swire Pacific Limited,
Power Assets Holdings Limited, Hysan Development
Company Limited, Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited and
Hang Seng Bank Limited, respectively.

- ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

2019 2018
BT BT
HK$ HK$

332,937 570,023

The Authority’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit. The credit period is generally around 30 days. Each
customer has a maximum credit limit. The Authority seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and has
an accounting department to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In
view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Authority’s
accounts receivable relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit
risk. The Authority does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over its accounts receivable balances.
Accounts receivable are non-interest-bearing.

59



60

Notes To Financial Statements | 84 #% #® #* 0

7. [BURFR (48)

AEBRABERZEEEEMBREER
FORFMRENTRHMEERBE - ZER TR
RFFERWIERNEZEEEBHBREHRERE -
R ERHMEEER  RBWRSREEEE
EEgttkBafHrFroHE RHREEBEES
TEZEMER - #1IE2019F12HB31H K
2018%F12H31H - IIRBREETBUBHRS
HAFIRHERERZAERAEE -

RIYRIE ~ HEREMEIIRTR

TR RIR
B & K E A B WIR R
FATRRIR ~ % & R E M EUWIRSR

o IEREN TR RIA

AR ~ % & R E M EUWIRRR

BE RE M BRI E
#1-2019F12H31H K 2018F12831H -
REREMBUWRANERENRE R FE
BERE BFEHBEBANEERRTRED
ERM O HFTMN - #1E2019F12H31B K
2018F12H3 1 HMW R E R B EBRE BB K
e

BERRBITHER

BE RIRITHR

ROTERUSERTERMNEGFE - BEZ
FHNXRFBWA - RTEHRERERRFR
TTMaEN BRI ER -

Prepayments

7. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued)

Deposits and other receivables

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

Less: non-current prepayment

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

Cash and bank balances

The Authority applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss for all accounts
receivable. To measure the expected credit losses, accounts
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The expected credit
losses have also incorporated forward looking information.
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Authority assessed
the loss allowance under the application of HKFRS 9 was
immaterial.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

2019 2018
BT BT
HK$ HK$

365,926 395,668
719,038 151,776
1,084,964 547,444
(768) (106,115)
1,084,196 441,329

Impairment of deposits and other receivables

The carrying amount of deposits and other receivables
approximated to their fair value as at 31 December 2019 and
2018. Their recoverability was assessed with reference to
the credit status of the debtors, and the expected credit loss
as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 were considered to be
minimal.

9. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

2019 2018
BT BT
HK$ HK$
15,728,745 9,672,622

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposits rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
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BNERSAER - BE—RAENRIOBRBEN -

HittENIERARARESER

aHEaRE Contract liabilities
HL At FE AT IR =X Other payables
EstEH Accruals

B 5%

#1-2019F12831H R2018F 128314
ZERNBBEFMOT

10.
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ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

The accounts payable are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled on 30-day terms.

. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

P& 2019 2018
Notes BT BT
HKS HKS

(a) 6,960,405 3,643,261
(b) 1,266,598 504,732
942,194 703,495

9,169,197 4,851,488

Notes:
(a) Details of contract liabilities as at 31 December 2019 and

2018 are as follows:

HELWEI ZEI 7172 Short-term advances received from customers

BAlFRE
T*#EH
MENEE

Training courses

BRNREEREHREIRENIXEBRM
RBEZRBEANR - E2019F 5N RERE
MEBZEHARFEREFRH#NIXIEER
1 AR 75 B W R B9 72 B TR A RROB NP 2K -

FPREBREAHRSPASTARSHRIEHNERE
NWEERWEZEER

Industrial projects

Total contract liabilities

2019 2018
BT BT
HK$ HK$

976,459 1,240,673
5,983,946 2,402,588
6,960,405 3,643,261

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received
to provide training courses and consultancy services for
industrial projects. The increase in contract liabilities
in 2019 was mainly due to the increase in short-term
advances received from customers in relation to the
provision of consultancy services for industrial projects
at the end of the year.

The following table shows the amount of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that was
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period:

2019
BT
HKS$
STAREHYSHEEN  Revenue recognised that was included
EERWE in contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period:
EIIRE Training courses 1,203,806
TXEHE Industrial projects 2,319,318
3,523,124

HiEBIIRABAEE - FHHRRE=(E
A -

(b) Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an

average term of three months.
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£ & 1

BRI (RIRE ) ROIFE171% - AR
BFRELFEKEFANES (i) FEHE
R EREAFEFITRERFHYERI IR
(MHIIR) RILENN—RAEATRHE

BERMIERMIRITRNFEERT ; (i) &M
KA g RELME IREBEEIRBRRE

EHNEERE -

AEALTRS
REER  HREAEMEALZEARS

ur
BB ETESEAS VR

R EERET

MEREEARER

(a) TBFRERS
EER - IRBUMEEERE - RERRE
U VREHEZH  HERUKNWAE
KEERHKS136,781 (2018%F : #& ) -
(b) EMEBELENABEL

12.

13.

Short term employee benefits

GENERAL RESERVE

In accordance with the Industrial Training (Clothing Industry)
Ordinance Section 17, all funds of the Authority that are not
immediately required may be (i) deposited on fixed deposit
in any bank or savings bank nominated by the Financial
Secretary of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (“Financial Secretary”) either generally
or, in any particular case, for that purpose; or (ii) subject to
the prior approval of the Financial Secretary invested in such
investments as the Authority thinks fit.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Authority had the following material transactions with
related parties during the year:

Compensation of key management personnel of the Authority:

2019 2018
BT BT
HK$ HK$
1,852,200 1,815,450

14. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions
During the year, the Authority entered into certain lease
arrangements in respect of items of fixture, fitting and
equipment with a total capital value at the inception of
the leases of HK$136,781 (2018: Nil).

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

HEERE
Lease
liabilities
BT
HK$

®2018%F12H31H
(RIRFTERZES )
RNEBY B REER
F16EMTE
120191318 ( &Eit)
%mﬁiﬁ%uﬁﬁ’] ''''''' 2w
EFE’J EARER

EEW//J\\E*H Fﬁl_
EWHEERE

HERBNMBEER
MR
R2019%12831H

At 31 December 2018
(as originally presented)
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16

At 1 January 2019 (as restated)
Changes from financing cash flows
Capital element of lease liabilities

Other changes
New lease liabilities arising from
additional leases during the year

Finance charge on lease liabilities
Interest expenses

At 31 December 2019

88,728

88,728

(28,424)

136,781
3,360
(3,360)

197,085
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MmTH

ZEREMTIERBSHARZEEEAT !

BRAFEINAEME
EHWEMRERE

& WS MR SR

EMEEBERMNR
5 REREME
Wtk ( MIEES )

RE RIRITHR

TRBE

AT IR AR
TRAEaEEM
FEAT IR R FE =T B

HERE

Financial assets

Equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive
income

Accounts receivable

Financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and
other receivables (note 8)

Cash and bank balances

Financial liabilities

Accounts payable
Financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals

Lease liabilities

15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:
BAFEIAE
1 2 T U &5 B9 B
ENE
Equity investments
at fair value FREHE AT
through other ANEREE
comprehensive  Financial assets 8%

income at amortised cost Total

BT BT BT

HK$ HK$ HK$

103,164,200 - 103,164,200

- 332,937 332,937

- 719,038 719,038

- 15,728,745 15,728,745

103,164,200 16,780,720 119,944,920

TR R ARSI A

HEmMEE

Financial

liabilities at

amortised cost

BT

HK$

204,041

2,063,602

197,085

2,464,728
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BRAFEINARME
HWZRRERE

& W R R
EMEESERANR
5 B REME
Wik ( MiEE8 )

RERIRITHER

TRHBE

FE AT IR R
TRBEaBRAEM

BRR KBS ER

Financial assets

15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(continued)

BAFEIAE
fth 2 T WL &= Y B
BIRE

Equity investments
at fair value
through other
comprehensive
income

BT

HK$

Equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive

income

Accounts receivable

108,451,900

Financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and
other receivables (note 8) -

Cash and bank balances

Financial liabilities

Accounts payable

R A AR A
HEmEE
Financial assets
at amortised cost
BT

HK$

570,023

151,776
9,672,622

o
===

Total
BT
HK$

108,451,900
570,023

151,776
9,672,622

108,451,900

10,394,421

118,846,321

Financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals

R A A B
ANEREE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
BT

HK$

349,186

913,732

1,262,918
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16. T RIEEREBBNAFEEE 16. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
HFiREEE FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

TEREINIBENWERTEAFEAZER The following table provides the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Authority’s financial instruments:

EREEZLFEETE Financial assets measured at fair value
R2019F12531H As at 31 December 2019
NEEHENESR Fair value measurements categorised into
EF—E E_E E=E =K
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
BT BT BT BT
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

BAFEIAEMSE  Equity investments at fair
HW I RERE value through other
comprehensive income

KR ERE Listed equity investments
(&E) (Hong Kong) 103,164,200 - - 103,164,200
R2018F 12531 H As at 31 December 2018
NEEHENESR Fair value measurements categorised into
E—E £ 8 = &%
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
BT BT AT E T
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
MAFEIAEMZE Equity investments at fair
HREW R ERE value through other
comprehensive income
iR E Listed equity investments
(&#®) (Hong Kong) 108,451,900 - - 108,451,900
FERN T EBRAF_EZBEILELTOE There have been no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and
B LUREEEASEYE=E no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.
EEBEZLFTREREN A TFEREERET The fair values of listed equity investments in Hong Kong are
BHREEE] - derived from quoted prices in active markets.
BEBEFEHEIWERS  &E  HihEUIR The Authority has assessed that the fair values of accounts
mm  HERETLES  ENEDZREKAE receivable, deposits, other receivables, cash and bank
OEEMENESRESSANAFTEER balances, accounts payable and financial liabilities included

in other payables and accruals approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these
instruments.

FEEME  TEZHARBSTIEREHA
&R Fr 2
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EENBNRBR

NGB EEeMTECARERESRBTHER
BEAFEIAREMEEUES 5
BEZSE
(XBBEEET -
PEEEENHEGESREEREE
s 1R 78

R RERE -
EMITENEZENERIEBN
IRERESEREERRE
Bl 4n FE
CRBE - HtEBWIRR R B IRRE -

CRANBEBEER - WRED

AEENERMTIEMSIRNERZRARD TS
B - EEER
ZEERTLREELEEELRRABR -
HEBEZWE -

EREBEZER - ANEBE

HEEE

B ERENHEERESER %5*575’2
B EATFEIAREMEEKWENRES
EMBERNFZETEER - IRBRKRE 3‘2
EEBRGMETNRD  URHESHRIEZ
TERENE - IREEEREHEFEBR

SHERERSERER

PRI EBRXSHHEROEY  &ED
BERARNRRRIZUTEER  MRFAR

TREINEMBEMBHAETAEZZER
TRARGTETRBEZER -

MEREERE

® RERERRSHAREERNZATES
BE1%k - HEREZHRAREE - ENWHE

DR B IR IR R A 1 IR 19 0
BRASEAESEE
EEMELE -

EiR/ (BE)Y

17. FINANCIAL

RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Authority’s principal financial instruments comprise
cash and bank balances and equity investments at fair
value through other comprehensive income. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for
the Authority’s operations. The Authority has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as accounts receivables,
deposits, other receivables and accounts payables, which
arise directly from its operations.

It is, and has been, throughout the year under review, the
Authority’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall
be undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Authority’s financial instruments
are market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The members of
the Authority reviews and agrees policies for managing each
of these risks and they are summarised below.

Market risk

The Authority’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
prices relates primarily to the Authority’s equity investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income with
floating market prices. The Authority’s equity investments
are listed on the Hong Kong stock exchange and are valued
at quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period.
The members of the Authority manage this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risks.

The market equity indices for the Hong Kong stock exchange,
at the close of business of the nearest trading day in the year
to the end of the reporting period, and their respective highest

BREEEUIBE
and lowest points during the year were as follows:

2019%F = /18 2018 S

12H31H 2019 12H31H 2018

31 December High/low 31 December High/low

2019 2019 2018 2018

BE - BEREH 30,280/ 33,484/

Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index 28,189 24,896 25,846 24,541

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
1% change in the fair values of the equity investments,
with all other variables held constant and before any impact
on tax, based on their carrying amounts at the end of the
reporting period. For the purpose of this analysis, for the
equity investments, the impact is deemed to be on the equity
investment revaluation reserve and no account is given for
factors such as impairment which might impact on surplus/
(deficit).
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RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Bm/ (HD)

REE #m/ (D)
Increase/ B R
(decrease) Increase/
in carrying (decrease)
amount in total reserves
BiAtE BT
% HKS
2019 2019
EAFEIAHMER Equity investments at fair value
WanWEE LmkRE through other comprehensive
rE income listed in Hong Kong +1% 1,031,642
BMAFEENAEMEE  Equity investments at fair value
WEWEE LMRKRE through other comprehensive
"E income listed in Hong Kong -1% (1,031,642)
2018 2018
BRAFEINAEHMEE  Equity investments at fair value
WEWEE LMKRE through other comprehensive
rRE income listed in Hong Kong +1% 1,084,519
BMAFEEINAEMEZE  Equity investments at fair value
WEmWEBE LMKR#E through other comprehensive
®rE income listed in Hong Kong 1% (1,084,519)
EERE Credit risk

VI

AEBRERTEREEREFNFE=FETR
2 BRIREHOEER  FAREZEEMRR
ETRSNERFHARMNRES  BELERPR
BIHERE S REHERZ  HREFRE
EETHWIRBERS - Lo - RS EFEE
REWRRNVEERBR - MRS IRIRER
WAEK -

B EMEHMEENEERR (BB Re
RIBRTHE  BE HtBWR  RATE
SIAEMEZERENRERE ) REXSY
FEN EeEBRSRZSeRIERER
BRI -

ERIBBRAATAEEREFNE=ER
R WERAEKER - IRBLRBHE
EPmEERR -

HRENEREEBRENEERAFES
AHMEZHKBENRERE  DUBHFEST
EHRBEEEZENTE -

The Authority trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Authority’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are required to pay deposit
in advance except for certain customers who have signed
strategic alliance agreements to jointly develop ongoing
projects with the Authority. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Authority’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Authority’s other financial assets,
which comprise cash and bank balances, deposits, other
receivables and equity investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income, arises from default of the
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amounts of these instruments.

Since the Authority provides services only to recognised
and creditworthy third parties, there is no requirements for
collateral. There are no significant concentrations of credit
risk within the Authority.

Liquidity risk

The Authority’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through investment and
disposal of equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income.
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18.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of the Authority’s financial liabilities
as at the end of reporting period, based on contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

2019

INE- 5

DRE

On demand or

less than 1ER55F =
one year 1to 5 years Total
ETT EIT EIT
HK$ HK$ HK$
204,041 - 204,041
2,063,602 - 2,063,602
55,344 154,240 209,584
2,322,987 154,240 2,477,227
2018
REKFH
IR
On demand or
less than
one year
BT
HK$
349,186
913,732
1,262,918
Capital management

The primary objective of the Authority’s capital management
is to safeguard the Authority’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business.

The Authority manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Authority may
adjust and manage all the funds and property of the Authority
in accordance with the Industrial Training (Clothing Industry)
Ordinance. The Authority is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes during the years ended
31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the members of the Authority on 27 April 2020.







